

Arizona State Board of Dental Examiners

"Protecting the Public's Health"

1740 West Adams Street, Suite 2470 Phoenix, Arizona 85007 P: (602)242-1492

E: <u>info@dentalboard.az.gov</u>
W: <u>https://dentalboard.az.gov</u>

OPEN SESSION MINUTES

June 7, 2019

Members of the Arizona State Board of Dental Examiners ("Board") held a meeting at 8:00 a.m. on Friday, June 7, 2019 at the Board's office in Boardroom C, 1740 West Adams Street, Phoenix, Arizona 85007. The Board did not meet in executive session.

BOARD MEMBERS:			
	Heather N. Hardy, RDH	President and Licensed Hygienist Member	
\times	Lisa B. Bienstock, DMD	Licensed Dentist Member	
X	Morgan Burg	Business Entity Member	
		Public Member	
	Nick Goodman	Public Member	
	John N. Harman, IV, DDS	Licensed Dentist Member	
	Anthony Herro, DDS	Licensed Dentist Member	
	Marilyn J. McClain, RDH	Licensed Hygienist Member	
	Russell J. Morrow, DDS	Licensed Dentist Member	
X	Leslie D. Seaman, DDS	Licensed Dentist Member	
	Robert B. Taylor, DDS	Licensed Dentist Member	
	Participated telephonically		
×	Absent		
STAFF AND ASSISTANT ATTORNEY(S) GENERAL PRESENT:			
	•	Executive Director	
		Assistant Attorney General	
		Board Investigator	
		Licensing Manager	
	<u> </u>	Chief Compliance Officer	
		Legal Administrator	
		Licensing Administrator	
	Lisa Schmelling	Administrative Assistant	
CHECKE DA DELCIDA EINIC AND JOD DDECENTE			
GUESTS PARTICIPATING AND/OR PRESENT Gary A. Schoenrock, DDS			
	Complainant		
	Complainant		
	Louis Comp. Esa.	tornay for Complainant for Casa No. 2001, 2001	
		ttorney for Complainant for Case No. 2001800101	
	Compramant		

Complainant		
Complainant, along with her mother Case No. 201800085; Stoor, Michael James		
Edward Ruvins, DDS		
Thomas Daniel Berry, DDSApplicant		
Andy FegleyFamily Member Speaking on behalf of Cassell, Elizabeth Suzanne		
Golinaz M. Asadi, DDSRespondent		
Kate Corcoran, EsqAttorney for Donald R. Hoaglin & Golinaz M. Asadi		
Debora Mitchell,Ottmar & Associates, Inc., Court Reporter		
Jeffrey Tonner, EsqAttorney for Inderraj S. Dhillon		
Shannon WhitakerArizona Department of Health Services, Chief Legislative Liaison		
Deborah Kappes, RDH, MPH Arizona Dental Hygienists' Association ("AZDHA")		
Jessie Armedt		
Rita Perry, CDA, CPFDA, RDH, MPADirector, DA Program, Phoenix College		
Patricia Price, RDH, CDAInstructional Coordinator, Rio Salado Community College		
Jessica Guethe-Larsen		
John McDonald		
Michael James Stoor, DDSRespondent		
John Green, Esq Attorney for Michael James Stoor		
Susan McLellan, Esq Attorney for Thuy B. Ngo, Ian D. Young & Larry Kaufman		
Lynnette WettsteinSpouse of Kelly B. Wettstein		

OPEN SESSION

The meeting was called to order at 8:00 a.m. by Heather N. Hardy, The following order of business was then considered:

INTRODUCTIONS OF NEW BOARD MEMBERS AND STAFF

Ryan P. Edmonson introduced Dr. Anthony Herro as one of the Board's newest board members and Selena Acuna and Lisa Schmelling as two of the Board's newest staff members.

CALL TO THE PUBLIC

Dr. Gary A. Schoenrock was present to request that the Board consider the direction of the dental profession, especially as it relates to OnabotulinumtoxinA ("Botox") and fillers. The Board directed staff to conduct research on which states allow the dental profession to administer Botox and/or other fillers and place on a future agenda.

PUBLIC COMMENT ON CASES

Heather N. Hardy swore in the public who were present to comment on cases.

The complainant for case no. 201800182; Hoaglin, Donald R. was present and stated his frustration with the way his case was handled by board staff, the lack of care he received from the dentist he filed his complaint against and why the Board terminated his case without discipline based on the executive director's recommendation. The complainant requested that the Board reopen his case and requested that they award him restitution.

The complainant for case no. 201800214; Young, Ian D. was present and stated his frustration with the way his case was handled by board staff, the lack of care towards him by Dr. Young, Dr. Young's bullying tactics and the fact that his dentures melted during the delivery to Dr. Young's

office, which did not fit his mouth and Dr. Young refused to replace or refund for the work performed.

The complainant for case no. 201800101; Dhillon, Inderraj S., along with her attorney, Louis Camp, were present and Mr. Camp stated that his client's experience with Dr. Dhillon was both painful and lead to a hospital visit, which lead to a cyst being removed from her throat that was possibly caused by one of Dr. Dhillon's tooth extractions.

The complainant for case no. 201700260; Spring, David E. was present and stated that the Dr. Spring used improper tools for denture placement, caused her pain and used outdated equipment.

The complainant for case no. 201800210; Bailey, Lance Don was present and discussed his experience with Dr. Bailey and the placement of crowns, which lead to other teeth being broken and all crowns placed eventually broke or cracked. He had trouble eating and drinking and incurred lots of debt and requested that the Board order restitution to pay him back what he spent on bad dental work. He also stated that the successor dentist fixed the issues and he is now happy with his teeth. He did not like that Dr. Bailey also attacked his character.

The complainant for case no. 201800085; Stoor, Michael James was present, along with her mother. The mother stated her frustration with Dr. Stoor and the pain her daughter went through with nine root canals, which all failed and lead to abscesses. Her daughter was never referred to an endodontist or oral surgeon by Dr. Stoor. Eventually her daughter went to an endodontist and oral surgeon who corrected the nine failed root canals and drained the abscesses. The complainant stated that she was traumatized as a 14-year old going through four hours of treatment at a time, her grades suffered and she missed a lot of normal social activity due to her procedures and pain. They requested that the Board grant them restitution for what they spent.

DECLARATION OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST – A.R.S. § 38-503

No new conflicts were declared.

ITEMS FOR BOARD REVIEW, DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION

Application(s) for Licensing of Dentist(s) – A.R.S. § 32-1231 et seq.

Ruvins, Edward

A motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor, seconded by Marilyn J. McClain and passed unanimously to grant the applicant a dentist license.

Dennison, David Kee

A motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor, seconded by Heather N. Hardy and passed unanimously to grant the applicant a dentist license.

Berry, Thomas Daniel

A motion was made by Heather N. Hardy, seconded by Dr. Robert B. Taylor and passed unanimously to grant the applicant a dentist license.

Application(s) for Licensing of Dental Hygienist(s) – A.R.S. § 32-1281 et seq.

Cassell, Elizabeth Suzanne

Andy Fegley, a family friend, was present to speak on behalf of Elizabeth Suzanne Cassell and her credentials as a hygienist. Mary DeLaat Williams clarified that the Board was not reviewing Ms.

Cassell's credentials to be licensed as a hygienist because staff already issued Ms. Cassell her license as a hygienist and certificate to administer nitrous oxide analgesia. The only matter before the Board was whether or not the Board should grant Ms. Cassell a local anesthesia certificate pursuant to A.R.S. § 32-1281(E). The Board discussed their options since Ms. Cassell submitted an application and the need to grant or deny. The Board was concerned about denying Ms. Cassell's application for a local anesthesia certificate because a denial is reportable to the National Practitioner Databank and prevents her from reapplying for five years. The Board discussed that since Ms. Cassell does not meet the requirements of A.R.S. § 32-1281(E) that they would like for her to withdraw her application versus voting to deny her the certificate.

After discussion, a motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor, seconded by Nick Goodman and passed unanimously to table any action, direct staff to contact Ms. Cassell and provide her the option to withdraw her application for a local anesthesia certificate and place the matter on a future agenda if the application is not withdrawn.

Review Proposed Board Order(s)

201700260; Spring, David E.

A motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor, seconded by Dr. Russell J. Morrow and passed unanimously to approve and issue the Board Order to Dr. David E. Spring.

201800056; Spillers, Jeffrey R.

A motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor, seconded by Dr. Russell J. Morrow and passed unanimously to approve and issue the Board Order to Dr. Jeffrey R. Spillers.

201800078; Dodaro, Charles A.

After discussion regarding the continuing education course, a motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor, seconded by Dr. Russell J. Morrow and passed unanimously to approve and issue the Board Order to Dr. Charles A. Dodaro.

201700101; Dhillon, Inderraj S.

A motion was made by Heather N. Hardy, seconded by Dr. Russell J. Morrow and passed unanimously to approve and issue the Board Order to Dr. Inderraj S. Dhillon.

CONSENT AGENDA

<u>Cases Recommended for Approval of Disciplinary Consent Agreements</u> 201800121-MP; Ngo, Thuy B.

The Board discussed amending the Consent Agreement's first paragraph to match the title as being a disciplinary Consent Agreement. The amendment should reflect that the first paragraph of the Consent Agreement should also read "Disciplinary Consent Agreement and Order" versus "Non-Disciplinary Consent Agreement and Order".

A motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor and seconded by Dr. Russell J. Morrow to accept the signed Disciplinary Consent Agreement and Order with the amendment noted. The motion passed 7-1 by the following roll call vote:

Robert B. Taylor, DDS – Aye Heather N. Hardy, RDH – Aye Marilyn J. McClain – Aye John N. Harman, IV, DDS – Aye Russell J. Morrow, DDS – Aye Aditya Dynar, Esq. – Nay Nick Goodman – Aye Anthony Herro, DDS – Aye

Cases Recommended for the Issuance of a Letter of Concern

201900032; Balmer, III, Thomas Albert

A motion was made by Dr. Russell J. Morrow, seconded by Dr. Robert B. Taylor and passed unanimously to accept and issue the Letter of Concern regarding proper prescription writing.

Cases Recommended for Termination

201800190; Beischel, Douglas O.

A motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor, seconded by Dr. Russell J. Morrow and passed 6 - 0 - 1 to terminate the case and close the file.

Nick Goodman declared a conflict and did not participate.

201900048; Black Canyon Dentistry 201900049; Black Canyon Dentistry

A motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor, seconded by Marilyn J. McClain and passed unanimously to terminate the cases and close the files.

Cases Recommended for the Issuance of a Letter of Concern

201800210; Bailey, Lance Don

The Board had questions regarding a Letter of Concern versus a Consent Agreement. Dr. Sam D. Palmer answered the Board's questions regarding Dr. Lance Don Bailey's treatment planning, communication and record keeping. The Board also discussed the Dr. Bailey's unprofessional communication and whether or not his assistant completed the work.

After discussion, a motion was made Dr. John N. Harman, IV and seconded by Dr. Robert B. Taylor to offer a Non-Disciplinary Consent Agreement for 10 hours of continuing education with six hours in treatment planning and diagnosis of crown and bridge procedures and four hours in risk management with an emphasis on record keeping and if not accepted to proceed to a formal interview.

Prior to the vote, the Board discussed non-discipline versus discipline in the offered Consent Agreement. The motion passed 7-1 by the following roll call vote:

Robert B. Taylor, DDS – Aye Heather N. Hardy, RDH – Aye Marilyn J. McClain – Aye John N. Harman, IV, DDS – Aye Russell J. Morrow, DDS – Aye Aditya Dynar, Esq. – Aye Nick Goodman – Nay Anthony Herro, DDS – Aye

201900020; Davis, Ramona L.

The Board discussed Dr. Ramona L. Davis' treatment of the patient and the intermittent dates in which the patient was treated by Dr. Davis. The patient was treated on multiple dates, but Dr. Davis' treatment did not include any of the latter dates of treatment, including the 12/17, 6/18 and 12/18 dates.

A motion was made by Heather N. Hardy, seconded by Marilyn J. McClain and passed unanimously to dismiss the case and close the file.

ITEMS FOR BOARD REVIEW, DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION

Formal Interview(s)

201800102; Asadi, Golinaz M.

Dr. Asadi M. Golinaz was present with her legal counsel, Kate Corcoran. Debora Mitchell, court reporter, was present to record the testimony and placed Dr. Golinaz under oath. Miriam Thompson summarized the complaint and allegations of inadequate procedures and charges for services not rendered. Ms. Thompson also updated the Board regarding the Board's Internal Investigation Review Committee's recommendation that the Board offer a Non-Disciplinary Consent Agreement for six hours of continuing education in oral surgery and three hours of continuing education in radiology. The update included Dr. Asadi's request to attend a formal interview in lieu of signing the Consent Agreement.

Ms. Corcoran provided a brief opening statement, including a request that the Board dismiss the case. Dr. Russell J. Morrow was assigned the lead board member to lead the interview. Dr. Morrow asked appropriate questions regarding the patient and the treatment of the patient, including the root tip that was left. Dr. Asadi answered Dr. Morrow's and the Board's questions, which included responses that she was unable to even take a follow-up x-ray due to the difficult behavior of the patient. Dr. Asadi stated that the owner of the practice never billed insurance for the treatment and that she never received any payment for the treatment she provided. Ms. Corcoran made a closing statement and, once again, requested that the Board dismiss the case.

After discussion, a motion was made by Dr. Russell J. Morrow and seconded by Dr. Robert B. Taylor to offer a Non-Disciplinary Consent Agreement for three hours of continuing education in risk management. The motion failed 1 - 6 - 1 by the following roll call vote:

Robert B. Taylor, DDS – Nay Heather N. Hardy, RDH – Nay Marilyn J. McClain, RDH – Nay John N. Harman, IV, DDS – Nay Russell J. Morrow, DDS – Aye Aditya Dynar, Esq. – Nay Nick Goodman – Nay

A motion was made by John N. Harman, IV and seconded by Marilyn J. McClain to dismiss the case and close the file. The motion passed 5-2-1 by the following roll call vote:

Robert B. Taylor, DDS – Nay Heather N. Hardy, RDH – Aye Marilyn J. McClain, RDH – Aye John N. Harman, IV, DDS – Aye Russell J. Morrow, DDS – Nay Aditya Dynar, Esq. – Aye Nick Goodman – Aye

Dr. Anthony Herro declared a conflict and did not participate.

The Board thanked Dr. Asadi for coming and participating in the formal interview.

The Board took a break from 9:43 a.m. to 9:51 a.m.

SUBSTANTIVE POLICY STATEMENTS

Delegation of the Use of Silver Diamine Fluoride to a Dental Hygienist and Dental Assistant Ryan P. Edmonson provided an update regarding the draft Substantive Policy Statement, which is a part of the Board's packet and stated that it was written with a collaborative effort. Mr. Edmonson also stated that Kevin Earle from the Arizona Dental Association called and stated that an employee of the Arizona Department of Health Services "DHS" would be in attendance for the board meeting and would like to address the Board. Shannon Whitaker was present and stated that the Arizona Department of Health Services is interested in hearing how the Board proceeds in its view of Silver Diamine Fluoride and who is eligible to administer it and is available to answer any questions.

Deborah Kappes was present and stated that the Arizona Dental Hygienists' Association is also interested in the topic and believes that it's already a delegated item to Arizona dental hygienists.

After discussion, a motion was made by Heather N. Hardy, seconded by Dr. Russell J. Morrow and passed unanimously that Silver Diamine Fluoride is a topical fluoride and already falls within the scope of practice of dental hygienists and that the delegation for dental hygienists to apply Silver Diamine Fluoride is already in statute and rule, and therefore, there is no need to adopt a substantive policy statement.

Rita Perry was present and stated that Silver Diamine Fluoride should be treated like all fluorides and that Article 7 of the Board's rules already delegate the application of Silver Diamine Fluoride to dental assistants under the direct supervision of a dentist.

After discussion, a motion was made by Nick Goodman, seconded by Marilyn J. McClain and passed 7 – 1 to treat dental assistants similarly to dental hygienists and that Silver Diamine Fluoride is a topical fluoride and already falls within the scope of practice of dental assistants and that the delegation for dental assistants to apply Silver Diamine Fluoride is already in statute and rule, and therefore, there is no need to adopt a substantive policy statement.

Dr. Robert B. Taylor voted against the motion.

Patricia Price was present and stated that she teaches an expanded function dental assistant course at Rio Saldo Community College. Ms. Price stated that the course is 10 weeks long and includes 24 hours of lab to teach competencies, including the application of Silver Diamine Fluoride.

A motion was made by Heather N. Hardy, seconded by Marilyn J. McClain and passed 7-1 that Silver Diamine Fluoride is a topical fluoride and already falls within the scope of practice of expanded function dental assistants and that the delegation for expanded function dental assistants to apply Silver Diamine Fluoride is already in statute and rule, and therefore, there is no need to adopt a substantive policy statement.

Dr. Robert B. Taylor voted against the motion.

ITEMS FOR BOARD REVIEW, DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION

Formal Interview(s)

201800085; Stoor, Michael James

Dr. Michael James Stoor was present with his legal counsel, John Green, who has been admitted pro hac vice status. Mr. Green stated that his sponsoring attorney was present in the room. Debora Mitchell, court reporter, was present to record the testimony and placed Dr. Stoor under oath. Miriam Thompson summarized the complaint and allegations of performing inadequate crowns and inadequate endodontics for her daughter. The allegations also included that Dr. Stoor failed to maintain adequate records. Ms. Thompson also updated the Board regarding the Board's Internal Investigation Review Committee's recommendation that the Board offer a Disciplinary Consent Agreement for 12 hours of continuing education in endodontics, six hours of continuing education in record keeping and six hours of continuing education in crown and bridge. Ms. Thompson stated that on April 12, 2019, the Board voted to modify the recommended Consent Agreement to include a practice restriction in endodontics and crown and bridge until the completion of the continuing education courses, 24 hours of hands on training in endodontics, in a dental school environment, six hours of continuing education in record keeping, restitution, to the patient, in the amount of \$18,350.00 and all continuing education requirements must be completed within six months from the date of the Consent Agreement. The update included that if Dr. Stoor did not accept the Consent Agreement that he would be invited to attend a formal interview.

Mr. Green provided a brief opening statement, including statements regarding his client's displeasure with the modified, offered Consent Agreement. Dr. John N. Harman, IV was assigned the lead board member to lead the interview. Dr. Harman stated since it does not appear that there is a dispute over whether or not Dr. Stoor provided inadequate dental services, he did not have any specific questions and opened it up for the rest of the Board to ask relevant questions. The Board asked Dr. Stoor questions about the nine root canals and 10 crowns he performed and why the work was not redone or referred out since it appeared that all procedures performed failed.

A motion was made by Dr. John N. Harman, IV, seconded by Marilyn J. McClain and passed unanimously finding violations of unprofessional conduct.

A motion was made by Dr. John N. Harman, IV and seconded by Dr. Russell J. Morrow to issue a disciplinary Order to include 24 hours of continuing education ("CE") in the area of endodontics – 12 of which must be completed a school setting, 24 hours of CE in the area of crown and bridge – 12 of which must be completed in a school setting, six hours of CE in the area of recordkeeping and all CE must be completed within six months of the date of the Order. The motion included restitution to make the patient whole. The motion passed unanimously by the following roll call vote:

Heather N. Hardy, RDH – Aye Marilyn J. McClain, RDH – Aye John N. Harman, IV, DDS – Aye Russell J. Morrow, DDS – Aye Aditya Dynar, Esq. – Aye Nick Goodman – Aye Anthony Herro, DDS – Aye

CONSENT AGENDA

Review of Executive Director Complaint Terminations – A.R.S. § 32-1263.03

201800182; Hoaglin, Donald R.

A motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor, seconded by John N. Harman, IV and passed 5-0-2 to terminate the case and close the file.

Dr. Anthony Herro and Heather N. Hardy declared conflicts and did not participate.

201800214; Young, Ian D.

201800222; Kaufman, Larry

A motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor, seconded by Russell J. Morrow and passed unanimously to terminate the cases and close the files.

ITEMS FOR BOARD REVIEW, DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION

Review Compliance/Non-compliance with Consent Agreement/Board Order 201300256; Wettstein, Kelly B.

Lynnette Wettstein was present, on behalf of her spouse, to answer any questions the Board may have. Heather N. Hardy placed Ms. Wettstein under oath.

Having no questions or discussion, a motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor, seconded by Heather N. Hardy and passed unanimously to take no action.

The Board took a break from 11:12 a.m. to 11:20 a.m.

REVIEW, DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON BOARD MEETING MINUTES

<u>Discussion and approval of the Open Session Minutes from the February 1, 2019 board meeting.</u> A motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor, seconded by Heather N. Hardy and passed 7-0-1 to approve the Open Session Minutes from the February 1, 2019 board meeting.

Dr. Anthony Herro abstained.

A motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor, seconded by Heather N. Hardy and passed 7 - 0 - 1 to approve the Executive Session Minutes from the February 1, 2019 board meeting.

Dr. Anthony Herro abstained.

A motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor, seconded by Nick Goodman and passed 6-0-2 to approve the Open Session Minutes from the April 12, 2019 board meeting.

Dr. Anthony Herro and Heather N. Hardy abstained.

Heather N. Hardy stated that the Board could not take action on the Executive Session Minutes from the April 12, 2019 board meeting because two abstentions and one conflict wouldn't constitute a quorum and requested that staff place them on the next scheduled meeting.

CONSENT AGENDA

Malpractice, Adverse Occurrence Reports and/or Disciplinary Action from Another Jurisdiction Israel, Victor M.

A motion was made by Heather N. Hardy, seconded by Dr. Robert B. Taylor and passed unanimously to take no action.

Board Dental Consultants and Anesthesia and Sedation Evaluators

Bennett, Ian G. – Dental Consultant

Itty, Abraham – Anesthesia and Sedation Evaluator

Turner, Bonnie – Dental Consultant

A motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor, seconded by Dr. Russell J. Morrow and passed unanimously to approve the three applicants as dental consultants and anesthesia and sedation evaluators, respectively.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S AUTHORITY TO TERMINATE COMPLAINTS – A.R.S. § 32-1263.03

After discussion, a motion was made by Heather N. Hardy, seconded by Dr. Russell J. Morrow and passed 7 - 1 to delegate the authority to terminate complaints to the executive director pursuant to A.R.S. § 32-1263.03.

Nick Goodman voted against the motion.

WESTERN REGIONAL EXAMINING BOARD

The Board reviewed its statutes and how the Western Regional Examining Board ("WREB") has changed their examining requirements. Heather N. Hardy stated that WREB has now made it optional for dentists to opt out of the class III filling; only completing a class II. Ms. Hardy also stated that WREB has made the periodontal and prosthodontic portion of the exam optional. The Board discussed that they may need to change their statutes and be specific with exactly what the applicants should be testing on rather than a blanket statement of passing a "board exam" regardless of who the administering body is/was. Ms. Hardy stated that perhaps their should be a requirement to be tested on one class II and one class III filling, an endodontics portion, a periodontal portion and prosthodontic portion.

A motion was made by Heather N. Hardy, seconded by Dr. Russell J. Morrow and passed unanimously to draft a Substantive Policy Statement to clarify the Board's statutes regarding the clinical examination and the Board's requirements to include two fillings – one class II and one class III, a periodontal portion, an endodontic portion and a prosthodontic portion, which are currently optional with WREB. The motion also included directing staff to notify the Arizona schools and WREB of what the Arizona Board requires for the Board's exam requirements.

SUBSTANTIVE POLICY STATEMENTS

Arizona Opioid Epidemic Act Continuing Education (Amended)

After a brief staff update, a motion was made by Heather N. Hardy, seconded by Dr. Russell J. Morrow and passed unanimously to approve the amended Substantive Policy Statement.

BOARD ELECTION

Heather N. Hardy and other board members wanted to publicly thank Dr. Gregory Waite for his time on the Board, specifically his time as the Board's president and to wish him well. Ms. Hardy also thanked the Board for their confidence, in her, when they voted her as vice-president never knowing that she would be in the position of president so quickly. Dr. Russell J. Morrow stated that he knows Ms. Hardy is highly qualified to lead the Board as president and that he is excited to serve with her. Other board members concurred.

Nick Goodman nominated Dr. Robert B. Taylor as the Board's vice-president.

John N. Harman, IV stated that Dr. Lisa B. Bienstock would be great and nominated her as the Board's vice-president.

After discussion, a motion was made by Nick Goodman, seconded by Heather N. Hardy and passed unanimously to appoint Dr. Robert B. Taylor as the Board's vice-president.

FEDERATION OF ASSOCIATIONS OF REGULATORY BOARDS ("FARB")

After discussion, a motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor, seconded by Heather N. Hardy and passed unanimously to approve the Assistant Attorney General's attendance at the 2019 FARB Regulatory Law Seminar held from Thursday, October 3, 2019 – Sunday, October 6, 2019 in St. Louis, Missouri.

AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF DENTAL ADMINISTRATORS ("AADA") AND AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF DENTAL BOARDS ("AADB")

A motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor, seconded by Dr. Russell J. Morrow and passed unanimously to approve a board member and staff's attendance at the 2019 AADA/AADB Annual Meeting held from Thursday, October 17, 2019 – Sunday, October 20, 2019 in Las Vegas, Nevada.

RECOGNITION OF SERVICE

Heather N. Hardy commented on how grateful she is of Nancy Chambers' 21 years of dedicated service to the Board. Ms. Hardy wished she could present Ms. Chambers with the plaque created, but read its contents and requested that board staff make certain that Ms. Chambers receives her plaque. The Board applauded Ms. Chambers' time spent serving the Board.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S REPORT

The Board reviewed the budget and agency operations with Ryan P. Edmonson.

SUMMARY OF CURRENT EVENTS

Ryan P. Edmonson provided the Board a brief demonstration of the electronic board packet and answered questions on downloading, the delivery and reviewing board materials.

DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION ITEMS FOR FUTURE MEETING AGENDAS

The Board discussed adding the following items on future board meeting agendas:

- Public comment on cases versus the complainant speaking when the actual agenda item is called;
- Requirements to obtain permits for anesthesia and sedation and must complete residency;
- Dental assistants scanning for final impressions and who can submit them;

- Dentists "losing records" during investigations and what action the Board can take;
- Possible establishment of a sub-committee regarding dental therapy regulations; and
- Standard of care for orthodontics.

NEXT BOARD MEETING DATE

Friday, August 2, 2019

BOARD MEMBER TRAINING

The Board discussed the possibility of postponing the training until the new board members are also present, and perhaps even hold a special meeting just to cover this agenda item.

SUMMARY OF CURRENT EVENTS

Dr. Robert B. Taylor expressed his gratitude for Dr. Gregory Waite's and Charles Jackson's service to the Board and he is looking forward to working with the newly appointed board members.

ADJOURNMENT

A motion was made by Dr. Robert B. Taylor, seconded by Dr. Russell J. Morrow and passed unanimously to adjourn at 12:37 p.m.